IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,182

TOMMY SANDS GROOVER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL J. MINERVA Interim Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 092487

GAIL ANDERSON Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0841544

HARUN SHABAZZ Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0967701

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 11, 1983, Tommy Groover was convicted on three counts of first degree murder (R. 255). A jury recommended advisory sentences of life on Count I and Count II. The jury recommended a death sentence on Count III (R. 252-54). The Court overrode the jury's recommendation and sentenced Mr. Groover to death on Count I, to life imprisonment on Count II, and to death on Count III on February 18, 1983 (R. 268-270).

On direct appeal to this Court Mr. Groover raised several claims attacking his convictions and death sentences, one of which was a pre-Hitchcock claim. In this claim Mr. Groover argued that the trial court had failed to considered the nonstatutory mitigation in both the jury override death sentence as well as the non-jury override death sentence. The trial court's failure to consider nonstatutory mitigation was raised in Issues V and VIII of Mr. Groover's direct appeal initial brief. In Issue VIII, the following argument was made:

An examination of the trial court's sentencing order reveals that the judge improperly limited his consideration to the statutorily enumerated mitigating circumstances contrary to the dictates of Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978) and Eddings v. Oklahoma, supra. (R-273-299). The trial judge, in his order, merely made findings negating each of the statutory mitigating circumstances, but totally failed to acknowledge the existence of nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, which the record undoubtedly supported. The trial judge, by limiting himself to the statutorily enumerated mitigating circumstances, not only violated the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments, but also failed to consider

numerous circumstances which militate against the imposition of the death penalty.

(Appellant's Initial Brief on Direct Appeal at 44). Mr. Groover went on to cite his history of drug and alcohol abuse, and other nonstatutory mitigation evident in the record on which the jury could have relied for its life recommendations and which the trial court should have considered (<u>Id.</u> at 44-45).

In Issue V, Mr. Groover argued that the trial court failed to consider the nonstatutory mitigation when the trial court decided to override the jury's life recommendation for count I of the indictment. Mr. Groover argued that "there was evidence introduced relative to nonstatuory mitigating factors which could have influenced the jury to return a life recommendation" (Appellant's Direct Appeal Initial Brief at 39).

However, this Court never directly addressed the trial court's failure to consider nonstatuory mitigation in its direct appeal opinion and affirmed the convictions and sentences.

Groover v. State, 458 So. 2d 226 (Fla. 1984). As for Issue V concerning the trial court's override of the jury's life recommendation this Court held:

Neither do we find error in the trial judge's override of the jury's recommendation that Groover receive a life sentence for the Padgett murder. No mitigating circumstances were found concerning Groover's participation in any of the homicides... In the face of the existence of these four aggravating circumstances, we find nothing in the facts of this case upon which the jury could rationally have based the recommendation of a life sentence.

Groover v. State, 458 So. 2d 226, 229 (Fla. 1984) (citation omitted) (emphasis added).

Mr. Groover filed his original Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence on June 1, 1986, and the trial court summarily denied relief on the same date. An appeal from the denial was taken to this Court. One of the claims which Mr. Groover raised in his original 3.850 motion was that trial counsel was ineffective in not presented certain nonstatutory mitigation. In rejecting this claim on appeal from the trial court's denial of the 3.850 motion, this Court held:

Claim IV alleges ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to present more evidence in mitigation at appellant's sentencing proceeding. This claim is meritless as the evidence now claimed to have been omitted centered on appellant's history of drug use and troubled family background. This evidence is largely cumulative to that presented by appellant at trial.

Groover v. State, 489 So. 2d 15, 17 (Fla. 1986) (emphasis added).

The mitigation that this Court referred to regarding Claim IV of Mr. Groover's original 3.850 motion was substantial and compelling (M. 32-56, 66-68). Essentially, this Court maintained in its opinion that significant nonstatutory mitigation was presented at Mr. Groover's trial. However, this Court never addressed in its opinion what effect the nonstatutory mitigation presented at trial had on the propriety of circuit court's imposition of two death sentences. Groover v. State, 489 So. 2d 15, 17 (Fla. 1986).

This Court remanded for an evidentiary hearing to determine trial counsel's ineffectiveness for "failing to inquire into his [Mr. Groover's] competency to stand trial and for failing to order a psychiatric evaluation of appellant." Groover v. State, 489 So. 2d 15, 17 (Fla. 1986). An evidentiary hearing was conducted and the lower court denied relief. An appeal from the denial was taken and this Court affirmed the trial court's order. Groover v. State, 574 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1991).

While the appeal from the trial court's denial of the competency issue was pending in this Court, Mr. Groover filed his second Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence on July 31, 1989, pursuant to the dictates of this Court. Mr. Groover's case presents a valid claim for relief pursuant to the analysis of https://dictates.com/hitchcock v. Dugger, 107 S. Ct. 1821 (1987), its predecessors, and its progeny. This Court had dictated that this claim be filed within two years of the https://hitchcock.opinion.openion.op

On August 14, 1991, during the pendency of the second Rule 3.850 motion, Mr. Groover filed a Motion to Disqualify Judge maintaining that Judge Olliff had formed opinions regarding jury life recommendations which would unavoidably prejudice his decision in Mr. Groover's case. Pending before the trial court was a <u>Hitchcock</u> claim in which Mr. Groover argued that the trial court did not considered nonstatutory mitigation when deciding to

override the jury's life recommendation. Mr. Groover specifically alleged:

- 1. Judge Olliff has formed opinions regarding jury life recommendations which will unavoidably prejudice his decision in Mr. Groover's case. In an interview with Professor William S. Geimer, Judge Olliff stated his belief that judges who put great weight on jury life recommendations [are] often just looking for a way [to] avoid imposing the death sentence. (Affidavit of William S. Geimer, Affidavit B). Professor Geimer concluded:
 - . . . a life recommendation for a capital defendant in Judge Olliff's court would almost certainly not be given the wight to which it is entitled under Florida law as I understand it. See, e.g. Tedder v. State, 322 So. 2d 908, 910 (1975).

(Id.).

- 2. These comments made by Judge Olliff indicate a refusal to properly apply Florida law in a capital case. Judge Olliff expresses a bias against capital defendants, particularly those in cases of a jury life recommendation. This bias will affect Judge Olliff's decisions concerning Mr. Groover and has resulted in a prejudgment of the issues.
- (M2. 42). This Motion to Disqualify Judge was denied as being legally insufficient (M2. 94).

A second Motion to Disqualify Judge was filed September 24, 1991, maintaining that ex parte communication had taken place between Judge Olliff and the state. Mr. Groover's counsel discovered evidence of the ex parte communication in materials given to Mr. Groover pursuant to a public records request:

Upon perusal of the State Attorney's file, counsel for Mr. Groover discovered an interoffice memo from the desk of Anthony Jenkins

(Appendix B) indicating a meeting or telephone call attended by Mr. Jenkins, the Attorney General and Judge Olliff. There is no indication that defense counsel was present or aware of this discussion.

(M2. 100). This Motion to Disqualify Judge was denied (M2. 109).

On November 12, 1991, defense counsel received (via regular U.S. mail) a copy of the State's proposed order filed with the trial court summarily denying Mr. Groover relief (App. A). On November 15, 1991, the trial court signed the State's order summarily denying the motion for post-conviction relief (App. B). The order was retyped verbatim and signed by the trial judge. It was signed before Mr. Groover could file an objection to the State's proposed order. This appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. Mr. Groover was denied due process in his Rule 3.850 proceedings when the lower court signed the State's order denying relief without affording Mr. Groover an opportunity to object to the order.
- 2. Mr. Groover was denied due process in his Rule 3.850 proceedings when the judge denied motions to disqualify based upon the judge's preformed opinions regarding jury life recommendations and upon the judge's <u>ex parte</u> contact with the State.
- 3. The trial judge failed to consider nonstatutory mitigating factors in sentencing Mr. Groover to death, in

¹Neither this document nor the trial court's order denying the Rule 3.850 motion are in the record on appeal. These documents are appended to this brief.

violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. The trial judge's oral and written sentencing findings discuss only the statutory mitigating factors. This error was not harmless, as the record contains substantial evidence supporting nonstatutory mitigating factors. Further, trial counsel's presentation of and argument on mitigation was constrained by his perception of statutory limits on the consideration of mitigation. For example, trial counsel confined his penalty phase closing argument to a discussion of the statutory mitigating factors. Substantial nonstatutory mitigation was available but not presented because of counsel's perception of the law. Mr. Groover is entitled to resentencing.

4. Numerous errors occurred at Mr. Groover's penalty phase and sentencing in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. Individually and cumulatively, these errors entitle Mr. Groover to resentencing.

ARGUMENT I

MR. GROOVER WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS ON HIS RULE 3.850 MOTION TO VACATE IN VIOLATION OF THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA AND THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION WHEN THE CIRCUIT COURT SIGNED THE STATE'S PROPOSED ORDER DENYING MR. GROOVER RELIEF WITHOUT AFFORDING MR. GROOVER AN OPPORTUNITY TO MAKE OBJECTIONS.

On November 12, 1991, defense counsel received (via regular U.S. mail) a copy of the State's proposed order filed with the trial court denying Mr. Groover relief (App. A). On November 15, 1991, the trial court signed the state's order summarily denying

the motion for post-conviction relief (App. B). The order was retyped verbatim and signed by the trial judge (Compare the State's proposed order (App. A) with the trial court's order denying Mr. Groover relief (App. B)). It was signed before the Mr. Groover could file an objection to the State's proposed order. There is no indication in the record what prompted the submission of State's proposed order.

The due process violation in Mr. Groover's case is similar to what occurred in Rose v. State, 601 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1992), and Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993). In Rose, this Court reversed the denial of Rule 3.850 relief because it "appeared" that the State and trial judge had ex parte communications during which the State was directed to prepare the order denying relief and the order was signed without giving Mr. Rose an opportunity to object to its contents. This Court maintained that "[u]nder these facts we must assume that" ex parte communication had taken place. Rose v. State, 601 So. 2d at 1182-83.

In <u>Huff</u>, the State submitted a proposed order denying Huff all relief. However, the record did not "reflect when the proposed order was submitted or what prompted the submission."

Mr. Huff's counsel received a copy of the proposed order on a Friday and the trial court signed the order as submitted on the following Monday "before Huff had the opportunity to raise objections or submit an alternative order." This Court concluded in Huff:

Even though the factual circumstances of the instant case are somewhat different from those in Rose, we find that the same due process concerns expressed in Rose are also present in this case. Rose was denied due process of law because his counsel was never served a copy of the proposed order; thereby depriving Rose of the opportunity to review the order and to object to its contents. In the instant case, CCR received a copy of the proposed order on Friday before the court signed it on Monday. This did not afford Huff a sufficient opportunity to review the order, much less to object to its contents.

Huff, 622 So. 2d at 983.

Rule 3.850 proceedings are governed by the principles of due process. Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993); Holland v. State, 503 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 1987). Due process cannot be squared with the treatment that the motion to vacate received in this capital case. A 3.850 movant "should [be] afforded an opportunity to raise objections and make alternative suggestions to the order before the judge sign[s] it." Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982, 983 (Fla. 1993). Due process requires notice and an opportunity to be heard. However, at no time was Mr. Groover advised or given an opportunity to object to the State's proposed order. Mr. Groover was entitled to a full and fair independent resolution from the court. Given the heightened scrutiny which the Eighth Amendment requires in capital proceedings, a resolution such as the one involved in this case violated due process. See Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982, 983 (Fla. 1993). ("Because of the severity of punishment at issue in a death penalty post-conviction case, we have determined that henceforth

the judge must allow the attorneys the opportunity to appear before the court and be heard on an initial 3.850 motion").

In <u>Huff</u>, this Court found that the facts did not "support an assumption that the trial court and the State engaged in an improper ex parte communication regarding the order." This Court relied on the State's cover letter that accompanied the proposed order which stated that the State expected CCR to submit their own proposed order. Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982, 984 (Fla. 1993). However, in Mr. Groover's case no such language was forthcoming in the State's cover letter that accompanied the proposed order. The State's cover letter had only one sentence: "Please find enclosed a proposed order I have sent to Judge Olliff." (App. A). As noted above, like Rose and Huff, the record does not reflect what prompted the submission of the state's proposed order. "Under these facts we must assume that the trial court, in an ex parte communication, had requested the State to prepare the proposed order." Rose v. State, 601 So. 2d at 1182-83.

The Code of Judicial Conduct emphasizes the importance of an independent and impartial judiciary in maintaining the integrity of the fact-finding process. See Code of Judicial Conduct, Canon 1, Canon 2A, Canon 3A(4), Canon 3C. Canon 3A(4) emphasizes, "A judge should accord to every person who is legally interested in a proceeding, or his lawyer, full right to be heard according to law, and, except as authorized by law, neither initiate nor

consider ex parte or other communications concerning a pending or impending proceeding." (Emphasis added).²

When a court is required to make legal determinations and findings of fact, "the findings must be based on something more than a one-sided presentation of the evidence . . . [and] require the exercise by an impartial tribunal of its function of weighing and appraising evidence offered, not by one party to the controversy, but by both." Simms v. Greene, 161 F.2d 87, 89 (3rd Cir. 1947). A death-sentenced inmate deserves at least as much.

[T]he reviewing court deserves the assurance [given by even-handed consideration of the evidence of both parties] that the trial court has come to grips with apparently irreconcilable conflicts in the evidence... and has distilled therefrom true facts in the crucible of his conscience.

E.E.O.C. v. Federal Reserve Board of Richmond, 698 F.2d 633, 640-41 (4th Cir. 1983), quoting Golf City, Inc. v. Sporting Goods, Inc., 555 F.2d 426, 435 (5th Cir. 1977).

Mr. Groover was entitled to all that due process allows -- a full and fair hearing by the court on his claims. Huff; Rose.

These rights were abrogated by the circuit court's adoption of the state's factually and legally erroneous order. The proceedings should be voided and this case should be remanded for a full and fair hearing before a new circuit judge for a proper resolution of the issues. This Court must set aside the order denying Mr. Groover's motion for post-conviction relief and

²Canon 3A(4) of the Code of Judicial Conduct was the Canon relied upon by this Court in Mr. Rose's case. <u>See Rose</u>, 601 So. 2d at 1183.

remand for proceedings consistent with relief granted in Rose and Huff.

ARGUMENT II

MR. GROOVER WAS DENIED A FULL AND FAIR HEARING ON HIS RULE 3.850 MOTION TO VACATE IN VIOLATION OF THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA AND THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION WHEN THE CIRCUIT COURT DENIED THE MOTIONS TO DISQUALIFY THE JUDGE.

On August 14, 1991, Mr. Groover filed a Motion to Disqualify Judge maintaining that Judge Olliff had formed opinions regarding jury life recommendations which would unavoidably prejudice his decision in Mr. Groover's case. Pending before the trial court was a Hitchcock claim in which Mr. Groover argued in part that the trial court did not consider nonstatutory mitigation when deciding to override the jury's life recommendation. Mr. Groover specifically alleged:

- 1. Judge Olliff has formed opinions regarding jury life recommendations which will unavoidably prejudice his decision in Mr. Groover's case. In an interview with Professor William S. Geimer, Judge Olliff stated his belief that judges who put great weight on jury life recommendations [are] often just looking for a way [to] avoid imposing the death sentence. (Affidavit of William S. Geimer, Affidavit B). Professor Geimer concluded:
 - . . . a life recommendation for a capital defendant in Judge Olliff's court would almost certainly not be given the wight to which it is entitled under Florida law as I understand it. See, e.g. Tedder v. State, 322 So. 2d 908, 910 (1975).

(Id.).

2. These comments made by Judge Olliff indicate a refusal to properly apply Florida law in a capital case. Judge Olliff expresses a bias against capital defendants, particularly those in cases of a jury life recommendation. This bias will affect Judge Olliff's decisions concerning Mr. Groover and has resulted in a prejudgment of the issues.

(M2. 42) (emphasis added). This Motion to Disqualify Judge was denied as being legally insufficient (M2 94).

Mr. Groover is entitled to full and fair Rule 3.850 proceedings, see Holland v. State, 503 So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 1987), including the fair determination of the issues by a neutral, detached judge. The aforementioned circumstances of this case are of such a nature that they are "sufficient to warrant fear on [Mr. Groover's] part that he would not receive a fair hearing by the assigned judge." Suarez v. State, 527 So. 2d 191, 192 (Fla. 1988).

This Court has repeatedly held that where a movant meets these requirements and demonstrates, on the face of the motion, a basis for relief, a judge who is presented with a motion for disqualification "shall not pass on the truth of the facts alleged nor adjudicate the question of disqualification."

Suarez v. State, 527 So. 2d 191 (Fla. 1988) (emphasis added);

Livingston v. State, 441 So. 2d 1083 (Fla. 1983); Bundy v. Rudd,

366 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 1978); Digeronimo v. Reasbeck, 528 So. 2d

556 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); Ryon v. Reasbeck, 525 So. 2d 1025 (Fla.

4th DCA 1988); Fruhe v. Reasbeck, 525 So. 2d 471 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); Lake v. Edwards, 501 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987); Davis v. Nutaro, 510 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); ATS Melbourne,

Inc. v. Jackson, 473 So. 2d 280 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985); Gieseke v.
Moriarty, 471 So. 2d 80 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); Management Corp. v.
Grossman, 396 So. 2d 1169 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981).

To establish a basis for relief a movant:

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