JAN 13 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK,	SUPREME	COURT
Ву	<u> </u>	
Çh	ef Deputy C	ierk

79-199

TOMMY SANDS GROOVER,)
Appellant,))
vs.) CASE NO.
STATE OF FLORIDA,))
Appellee.)
))

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In Rose v. State, 601 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 1992) and in Huff v. State, supra, this Court addressed the problem of judicial requests for the preparation of orders, in Rose and in Huff, the petitioners had filed "first" Rule 3.850 actions that raised substantial claims. Indeed, in Rose, the state stipulated to the need for an evidentiary hearing.

In both cases, the trial judge denied relief without conducting any hearing or even allowing the attorneys to appear for argument. This key element was discussed in <u>Huff</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 983:

³ Huff, of course, is prospective only.

"Because of the severity of punishment at issue in a death penalty post-conviction case, we have determined that henceforth the judge must allow the attorneys the opportunity to appear before the court and be heard in an initial 3.850 motion. . . If this practice had been followed in the instant case the Court might not be faced with the issue of whether Huff's due process rights were violated. (emphasis added).

The case at bar meets the factual criteria noted in Huff.

First, this was not an initial petition. This was a successive petition which raised one false allegation and eight procedurally barred claims (see Points III and IV below).

Second, the state moved for dismissal on procedural grounds and CCR's reply did not even answer the state's claims of procedural bar (R 71-93).

Third, a hearing was conducted and CCR was given a full opportunity to argue all claims (SR 20-41). At the end of the hearing, Judge Olliff announced that he would rule on the motions (SR 40).

Although Rose v. State, supra, declares that this Court is not concerned with questions of "actual prejudice", we submit that the facts of this case must be considered.

Judge Olliff's order found claims II - IX procedurally barred. CCR never, in its reply to the state's response or at the hearing before Judge Olliff, denied that these issues were barred. Thus, since CCR was given opportunities for both oral and written replies to the procedural issue and declined to pursue them, it strains credibility to argue - as they now argue - that some "ex-parte argument" was necessary for the Court to rule on an undisputed point. If the "image of impropriety" is

the key (Rose, supra), the case at bar clearly offers no "image" of misconduct as to the barred claims.

Judge Olliff's order on the "Hitchcock" issue simply tracks the record (i.e., the "Hitchcock" instruction was not given, the Court had Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978) and the jury and the Court both considered non-statutory mitigating evidence.) (Appendix B). This set of findings, again, did not necessitate any ex parte discussion with the state because they were simple statements regarding the content of an undisputed record. Cf. Jackson v. State, 599 So.2d 103 (Fla 1992); Dragovitch v. State, 492 So.2d 350 (Fla. 1986). Thus, no "appearance of impropriety" appears to exist on the facts of this case. Jackson v. State, 599 So.2d 103 (Fla. 1992); Dragovitch v. State, 492 So.2d 350 (Fla. 1986).

Given the fact that the requirements of <u>Huff</u> were satisfied, plus the state's submission of the proposed order to CCR prior to Judge Olliff's adoption of the order, plus the undisputed nature of the findings, plus, the failure of CCR to object or move for rehearing, it is clear that the appellate argument of technical error by Judge Olliff (for signing the order too soon) clearly does not warrant reversal. At most, this record reflects nothing more than the adoption of a proposed order that was submitted to all parties. The State had no idea when the order would be signed, if it was adopted by the court at all. Rose, supra.

POINT II

THE APPELLANT'S MOTIONS TO DISQUALIFY THE TRIAL JUDGE WERE CORRECTLY DENIED AS FACIALLY DEFICIENT

Mr. Groover made two attempts to remove Judge Olliff from his case.

The first motion for disqualification alleged that Judge Olliff should be disqualified due to comments he allegedly made in a 1988 interview with William S. Geimer, a researcher preparing a law review article (R 51). Neither the interview nor the article had anything to do with Groover's case (R 51). The affidavit from Mr. Geimer does not quote Judge Olliff and is simply a hearsay - recollection from a dubious source.

The affidavit says:

- 5. "Judge Olliff told me of his belief that judges who put great weight on jury life recommendation were often just looking for a way avoid [sic] imposing the death sentence. He further observed that he thought that requiring a sentencing verdict was a great burden on jurors, and that he was no longer interested in knowing the numerical breakdown of recommendations. He said he considered the recommendations, but could not say to what extent.
- 6. Judge Olliff also said that in two early cases that were the subject of the interview, he had called the Attorney General's Office for advice when preparing the sentencing order.

(R 51).

Judge Olliff did not rule on the merits of Groover's claim of judicial bias nor did he rule on the veracity of this affidavit. As a general challenge to the alleged political opinions of the Judge, as well as a non-specific hearsay

accusation of <u>ex parte</u> contact not linked to this case, the affidavit and, by extension, Groover's motion were facially insufficient to compel disqualification. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 446 So.2d 1059 (Fla. 1984); <u>Keenan v, Watson</u>, 525 So.2d 477 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988); <u>Quince v. State</u>, 592 So.2d 669 (Fla. 1992). Indeed, in <u>Quince</u>, the appellant sought the recusal of the trial judge for "derogatory" comments made, five years before, about out-of-state lawyers. The comments in question were made during a speech to a local bar association and, like the comments at bar, were not connected to any particular case. This Court held that Mr. Quince had no well founded fear of judicial bias and agreed that the motion was facially deficient.

While Mr. Groover's first motion enjoyed the "support" of a hearsay affidavit, his second motion was not supported by any evidence at all, a point conceded by CCR in open court.

Apparently, CCR found an undated note, in the state's files, written by a former assistant named Jenkins. (Jenkins was not the prosecutor in this case.) The note said that Jenkins spoke to the "Attorney General" (the person spoken to is not named) and that that office had the Rule 3.850 motion. The note also said that Judge Olliff's division would handle the case.

As confessed by CCR, the note does <u>not</u> say that the Attorney General spoke to Judge Olliff or that any three-way discussion to

It should be noted that Judge Olliff's comments were critical of the judiciary for not carefully reviewing record evidence and did not reflect any bias in favor of or against either a life or death sentence. Here, of course, Judge Olliff was not going to sentence Mr. Groover, so any comments regarding "jury overrides" were not relevant anyway.

place. Thus, when counsel attempted to argue that such a meeting could be implied, the Court was moved to reply:

"Counsel, in all candor, are you serious?" (SR 28)

Given the confession that the motion was not supported by any evidence, it was denied as facially deficient.

In <u>Tafero v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 355, 361 (Fla. 1981), this Court held:

"The test of the sufficiency of an affidavit for disqualfication for prejudice is whether or not the sworn statement shows that the movant has a well grounded fear of not receiving a fair trial at the hands of the presiding judge. State ex rel Brown v. DeWell, 131 Fla. 566, 179 So. 695 (1938). The facts and reasons given in the sworn affidavit must tend to show personal bias or prejudice. The rule is not intended as a vehicle to oust a judge who has made adverse pretrial rulings.

No bias or prejudice had been demonstrated in this case. The mere fact that Judge Futch was, in the distant past, a highway patrol officer does not support a claim of bias or prejudice. Tafero presented nothing to warrant the judge's disqualification."

While Mr. Tafero at least had a claim that the judge (a former highway patrolman) might be biased due to the victim's stastus (as a highway patrolman), Mr. Groover had absolutely no evidence at all.

Mr. Jenkins was not the prosecutor and Mr. Jenkins was not prohibited from calling the Attorney General's Office. Mr. Jenkins was not prohibited from verifying which judge would handle the case, see, Rose, supra; and not one word in Jenkins' note supports any accusation of a "three way meeting" between himself, the Court, and the Attorney General.

Mr. Groover's brief fails to address the record. It devotes a page to Love v. State, 569 So.2d 807 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (describing the Attorney General's Office as an arm of the prosecution) and cites to Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625 (1980) and Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985) for the proposition that capital cases require close attention, but at no time does the brief justify the baseless accusations of "misconduct" (by Judge Olliff, the Attorney General or the prosecutor) by showing any factual or logical basis for same. By its silence, Groover's brief confesses the facial deficiency of the motion.

A party litigant cannot manufacture grounds for recusal. Thus, in <u>Dowda v. Salfi</u>, 455 So.2d 604 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), the movant was unable to force Judge Salfi's recusal by suing him. Similarly, in <u>Lowe v. State</u>, 468 So.2d 259 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985), the trial judge was not required to recuse himself even though the judge initiated contempt proceedings against movant's counsel. Here, the charges of judicial bias did not provoke litigation or any contempt action. In addition, movant's counsel confessed to the lack of a factual basis for the motion.

Clearly, the motion was facially deficient and did not compel recusal either by its terms or the mere fact that it was filed.

Appellate relief must be predicated upon more than the unfounded imagining of some attorney. Mr. Groover was obliged, on appeal, to show that his motion was not facially deficient. This he has failed to do and the lower court's order should be affirmed.

POINT III

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING MR. GROOVER'S HITCHCOCK V. DUGGER CLAIM

The Appellant's third point on appeal is a baseless claim of so-called "Hitchcock" error. <u>See</u>, <u>Hitchcock v. Dugger</u>, 481 U.S. 393 (1987). The summary disposition of this claim was clearly vested with both factual and legal support.

Mr. Groover was tried long after the decision in Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978). The trial judge was not only aware of Lockett, his instruction to the advisory jury was in accordance with Lockett and was not the limited instruction given in Hitchcock, supra. In fact, after advising the jurors that the (listed) statutory mitigating factors were simply "among" the circumstances they could consider (R 1708), the judge specifically stated

"And you may also consider any other aspect of the defendant's character or record or any other circumstances of the offense." (R 1708-9).

On direct appeal, Mr. Groover argued that the trial court failed to consider non-statutory mitigating factors, specifically citing Lockett and Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982). (Appellant's brief at 44, 45). This Court denied relief. Groover v. State, 458 So.2d 226 (Fla. 1984).

During the penalty phase, the defense relied upon testimony from Groover's mother regarding Groover's "non-violent nature" and his rescue of his sister from a fire (R 1623-27) as well as "mental mitigation." These facts were later relied upon by defense counsel in his argument relating to non-statutory mitigation (R 1683-86).

The decision in <u>Hitchcock v. Dugger</u>, <u>supra</u>, addressed the propriety of a jury instruction used for a brief period prior to 1979. The instruction was found to have the potential to provoke <u>Lockett</u> error by limiting the advisory jury's review of the evidence. Despite repeated attempts to expand <u>Hitchcock</u> beyond the scope of those cases covered by the decision, this Court has refused to oblige.

In <u>Card v. Dugger</u>, 512 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1987), this Court held that it would not assume the presence of <u>Lockett</u> error in cases where the sentencing judge did not give the <u>Hitchcock</u> instruction. The same decision was made in <u>Harich v. State</u>, 542 So.2d 90 (Fla. 1889); <u>Johnson v. Dugger</u>, 520 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1988); <u>Adams v. State</u>, 543 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 1989); <u>Spaziano v. Dugger</u>, 557 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1990). The mere fact that the sentencing order tracks the statutory factors does not change this presumption. <u>Johnson v. Dugger</u>, 520 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1988). Indeed, the sentencing order specifically stated:

"Before imposing sentence, this Court has carefully studied and considered all the testimony at trial and at evidence and proceedings, advisory sentencing the Investigation Report, the Presentence applicable Florida Statutes, the case law, and all other factors touching upon this case." (R 282).

Mr. Groover relies upon two cases having no bearing to the issues at bar. Both <u>Copeland v. Dugger</u>, 565 So.2d 1348 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 546 So.2d 717 (Fla. 1989) were legitimate "<u>Hitchcock</u>" cases involving both the faulty jury instruction and record evidence of <u>Lockett</u> error. Mr. Groover's citation to selectively irrelevant cases only heightens the

conspicuous absence of <u>Card</u>, <u>Harich</u>, <u>Adams</u> and <u>Johnson</u> from his brief, as well as any citation to the relevant portions of the sentencing order.

Finally, the States notes that in <u>Daugherty v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1988), this Court upheld the denial of collateral <u>Hitchcock</u> relief under virtually identical circumstances. 6 Again, Groover fails to cite or distinguish <u>Daugherty</u>.

Mr. Groover is not entitled to relief in the absence of any <u>Hitchcock</u> error and he is not entitled - in the absence of any
<u>Hitchcock</u> instruction - to use the <u>Hitchcock</u> decision as a device for circumventing the procedural bar governing reargument of the
<u>Lockett</u> claim from his original appeal.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN APPLYING VALID PROCEDURAL BARS TO THE APPELLANT'S REMAINING CLAIMS

The final point on appeal is nothing more than a collection of procedurally barred claims.

Claim A is a claim of error under Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496 (1987) which, due to Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. ____, 115 L.Ed.2d 720 (1990) has been carefully reworded to delete any citations to Booth. This issue was not raised at trial or on appeal and is procedurally barred. Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1988); Eutzy v. State, 541 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 1989); Preston v. Dugger, 531 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1988); Jones v. Dugger,

Thre, as here, a correct instruction was given at trial and, on appeal, a claim of Lockett error was denied.

533 So.2d 290 (Fla. 1988); <u>King v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 780 (Fla. 1992); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 1026 (Fla. 1992).

Claim B is a procedurally barred complaint about "burdenshifting" jury instructions. Once again, Groover fails in his duty to apprise the court that the claim is barred. Byrd v. State, 597 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1992); Davis v. State, 589 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1991); Roberts v. State, 568 So.2d 1259 (Fla. 1990); Atkins v. State, 541 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1989); Adams v. State, 543 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 1989); Harich v. State, 542 So.2d 90 (Fla. 1989).

Claim C is an "automatic aggravating factor" claim that was not raised at trial or on appeal and is therefore procedurally barred. Harich v. State, supra; Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1989); Glock v. State, 537 So.2d 99 (Fla. 1989).

Claim D is an "unbridled mercy" claim that was not preserved at trial or on appeal and thus not preserved for collateral review. Harich v. State, supra; Atkins v. State, supra; Glock v. State, supra.

Claim E relies upon Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992), in challenging the propriety of the jury instructions on the "heinous, atrocious, cruel" (HAC) and "cold, calculated, premeditated" (CCP) factors following the penalty phase of Groover's trial.

The defense never objected to either instruction (R 1697, 1714) and, on appeal, only questioned the sufficiency of the "HAC" jury instruction in defining the phrase. The State opposed the claim on procedural grounds (Appellee's Brief at 45) and this Court denied relief without opinion.

This claim was and is procedurally barred. Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. ___, 119 L.Ed.2d 326 (1992); James v. State, ___ So.2d ___, (Fla. 1993) 18 Fla. L. Weekly S.139; Kennedy v. Singletary, 602 So.2d 1285 (Fla. 1982) upheld this procedural bar. Sims v. Singletary, 622 So.2d.980 (Fla. 1993); Rose v. State, 617 So.2d 291, (Fla. 1993); Atkins v. Singletary, 622 So.2d 931 (Fla 1993); Marek v. Singletary, ___ So.2d ___, (Fla. 1993), 18 Fla.L.Weekly S.473.

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